1999

# Van Orden v. Van Orden : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

### **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

The Utah Court Of Appeals has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Annotated § 78-2a-3(2)(i). The orders appealed from are final orders disposing of all claims of all parties.

### **ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL**

Did the trial court abuse its discretion by awarding custody of the minor child to Appellee, Mike Van Orden?

Did the trial court abuse its discretion by placing numerous restrictions on Appellant's visitation rights with the child ?

Did the trial court make adequate findings to support the order of custody and visitation?

Did the trial court abuse its discretion in reducing the award of attorney's fees to Appellant following the post trial hearing?

### **STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW**

The trial court is given broad discretion in awarding custody, establishing visitation rights and granting attorney's fees in a domestic relations matter. The trial court's award of custody, visitation rights and attorney's fees can be overturned by the appellate court if the trial court is found to have abused its discretion in making its findings. Utah Code Annotated Section 30-3-10.

### **DETERMINATIVE AUTHORITY**

The determinative authority for this appeal are Utah Code Annotated § 30-3-3(1), Utah Code Annotated § 30-3-10, Utah Code Annotated § 30-3-32, Utah Code Annotated § 30-3-33, Utah Code Annotated § 30-3-34 and Utah Code of Judicial Administration, Rule 4-903.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### **1. Nature of Case**

This appeal is from a final order of the Third District Court, Honorable Anthony B. Quinn presiding, granting custody of the minor child of the parties to Appellee, Michael Van Orden (herein “Mike”) with visitation rights to Appellant, Lisa Van Orden (herein “Lisa”) following a three day trial held in April, 1999. In addition, Lisa appeals the trial court’s post judgment ruling reducing attorney’s fees that were awarded to her at trial.

#### **2. Course of Proceedings**

Mike filed for divorce in April, 1996. Upon filing for divorce, Mike obtained an *ex parte* Temporary Restraining Order giving him possession of the marital residence and temporary custody of the parties’ then three year old daughter. A hearing was held before Commissioner Thomas Arnett, in which Commissioner Arnett upheld the *ex parte* Temporary Restraining Order obtained by Mike. Commissioner Arnett also ordered a custody evaluation be performed. The custody evaluation was filed in October 1998. A three day trial was held in April, 1999.



### **3. Disposition In The Trial Court**

At the conclusion of the trial, Judge Quinn awarded permanent custody of the child (then six years old) to Mike. Judge Quinn also awarded attorney's fees to Lisa. Mike filed a post judgment Motion To Reconsider Attorney's Fees contesting the award of attorney's fees to Lisa. At the hearing on Mike's post judgment Motion To Reconsider Judge Quinn reduced the award of attorney's fees to Lisa.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

1. The parties were married on September 10, 1993. (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, (hereinafter referred to as "Findings") paragraph 2.
2. There is one child born as issue of the marriage, Courtney Van Orden, born January 16, 1993. (Findings Paragraph 3).
3. Lisa has two children from a previous marriage, Brett Podgorski, and Brandon Podgorski. (Findings Paragraph 4).
4. Lisa would prefer to be a stay at home mother. During the marriage and during the time that the divorce was pending, except for brief periods of employment, Lisa has been a stay at home mother. (Findings Paragraph 11).
5. On April 17, 1996, Mike filed for divorce and obtained an *ex parte* Temporary Restraining Order evicting Lisa from the marital residence and obtaining temporary custody of Courtney. (Findings Paragraph 6).

6. The *ex parte* Temporary Restraining Order obtained by Mike was granted upon the grounds of Lisa's alleged "medical neglect" of Courtney. (Trial Transcript Vol. I, pg. 167 lines 5-25).

7. Prior to obtaining the Temporary Restraining Order, Mike had taken Courtney to an InstaCare clinic for a possible ear infection. The doctor at InstaCare gave the diagnosis that Courtney did, indeed, have an ear infection, and prescribed antibiotics for the ear infection. (Trial Transcript Vol. I, pg. 164 lines 24-25; pg. 165 lines 1-6, 23-25).

8. Lisa had an appointment the next day with the parties' pediatrician for her son, Brett. During the appointment, she asked the pediatrician to look at Courtney's ears. The pediatrician did so, and gave Lisa the opinion that there was not an ear infection. Lisa informed Mike of this when Mike arrived home from work that evening. (Trial Transcript Vol. II, pg. 343 lines 23-25; pgs. 344, 345; pg. 165 lines 23-25; pg. 166 lines 1-7).

9. The next day, Mike telephoned the pediatrician's office and inquired about the diagnosis. The receptionist pulled the records from the previous day, and informed Mike that Courtney did not have an appointment, only Brett. Mike obtained a letter from the secretary as to this fact, and used the letter to obtain an *ex parte* Temporary Restraining Order against Lisa granting Mike temporary custody of Courtney on the grounds of Lisa's "medical neglect" of Courtney. (Trial Transcript Vol. I, pg. 166 lines 1-20; pg. 348).

10. Lisa later was able to obtain a letter from the pediatrician himself, stating that he had seen Courtney, but because it was informal, Courtney's name was not noted on the schedule for that day. (Trial Transcript Vol. I, pg. 167 lines 20-25; pgs. 349-350).

11. Mike's Temporary Restraining Order, along with the Complaint for Divorce, was served upon Lisa, giving Lisa just twenty-four hours to gather her possessions and move out of the marital residence. (Trial Transcript Vol. II, pg. 339 lines 22-25).

12. A hearing was held on Mike's Temporary Restraining Order on April 29, 1996, before Commissioner Thomas Arnett. At the conclusion of the hearing, Commissioner Arnett ordered that the Temporary Restraining Order be kept in place, and granted temporary custody of Courtney to Mike. Commissioner Arnett also ordered that a custody evaluation be performed.

13. Dr. Johanna McManemin was appointed to conduct the custody evaluation. During the course of the evaluation, Dr. McManemin interviewed Mike, Lisa, Courtney, Brett Podgorski, Brandon Podgorski, both Mike and Lisa's parents and numerous siblings of both Mike and Lisa.

14. The custody evaluation took two years to complete. During this time, Mike and Lisa had numerous battles over Courtney's preschool, kindergarten, summer visitation, etc., resulting in numerous hearings before Commissioner Arnett. (Findings Paragraph 12).

15. Dr. McManemin originally was going to propose that the parties share joint physical custody of Courtney. (Trial Transcript Vol. I, pg. 59, lines 21-25; pg. 60, lines 1-25; pg. 61, lines 1-12; pg. 77, lines 12-25; pg. 78, lines 1-5; pg. 98, lines 3-12; pg. 122, lines 6-10; pg. 374, lines 17-25; pg. 375, lines 1-8).

16. In her custody evaluation, Dr. McManemin proposed that Mike have sole custody of Lisa. (Trial Transcript Vol. I, pg. 52, line 25; pg. 53, lines 1-2).

17. Dr. McManemin did not meet with the parties between her initial proposal of joint physical custody and her final recommendation that Mike have sole custody of Courtney. (Trial Transcript Vol. I, pg. 63, lines 16-19).

18. Lisa filed a complaint against Dr. McManemin with the State Of Utah Division Of Occupational and Professional Licensing in September 1998, based upon the length of time Dr. McManemin had taken to complete the custody evaluation. (Trial Transcript Vol. I pg. 65, lines 11-25; pg. 375, lines 21-25; pg. 376, lines 1-25; pg. 377, lines 1-15).

19. At trial, Dr. Donald Strassberg testified as an expert witness on behalf of Lisa. Dr. Strassberg testified that the custody evaluation was biased against Lisa. (Trial Transcript Vol. II, pg. 450, line 10; pg. 456, lines 18-19; pg. 460, lines 18-25; pg. 461, lines 1-9; pg. 469, lines 4-11).

20. Judge Quinn, in making his findings at the conclusion of the trial, declined to give the custody evaluation much weight, based upon the fact that with Lisa's complaint against Dr. McManemin, the custody evaluation may have been biased against Lisa. (Trial Transcript Vol. III, pg. 565, lines 9-22).

21. During the three years between the filing of the divorce action and trial, the parties kept a custody and visitation schedule that was virtually joint custody. Courtney slept at Mike's and Mike would deliver Courtney to preschool or kindergarten. Mike or Lisa picked Courtney up from school. Lisa would then provide daycare for Courtney, with Courtney staying at Lisa's house during the afternoon and early evening until Mike picked Courtney up at 6:00 or 7:00 p.m. after getting off of work. Every other weekend Courtney stayed at Lisa's house from

Thursday evening until Monday morning. The Court found that Courtney had done well under this arrangement. (Findings Paragraph 8).

22. “Prior to separation, both parents were actively involved in caring for Courtney. Both parents had responsibility at various times for feeding her, bathing her, and transporting her to her activities and doctor visits. Both parents were actively involved in providing other care to Courtney during their relationship. Courtney has a close relationship with both parents. Both parents wish to be custodial parents.” (Findings Paragraph 9).

23. “Courtney has two half-siblings from Lisa’s prior marriage. It would be in Courtney’s interest to maintain her relationship with those siblings. Because Lisa has custody of the two half-siblings, that relationship would be easier to facilitate if Lisa had custody.” (Findings Paragraph 10).

24. The Court specifically found that Courtney had thrived under the arrangements specified in Paragraph 21 above. (Findings Paragraph 4).

25. A three day trial was held April 6-8, 1999. At the conclusion of trial, Judge Quinn awarded custody to Mike, granting Lisa the same visitation rights she had exercised during the three years before trial, (Findings Paragraph 21) but placing numerous restrictions upon Lisa’s visitation rights (Findings Paragraph 30).

26. At the conclusion of the trial, Judge Quinn awarded Lisa attorney’s fees and costs, noting that the divorce had been lengthy and expensive because of the way Mike had initiated the divorce action, and that Mike’s conduct indicated that he was going to play “hardball” during the divorce action. Judge Quinn noted that the Temporary Restraining Order

that Mike had obtained was obtained upon grounds that were “clearly not justified”. (Findings Paragraph 44).

27. “The Court finds that Michael bears a lot of responsibility for the way that this case has gone. This case has been much more expensive than it needed to be. The reason for that is because the case got started badly, due to the fact that Michael got a Temporary Restraining Order that put him in possession of the house and in custody of Courtney on grounds that were clearly not justified, not even based upon what he believed at the time. After having done that Michael in essence announced that the rules of divorce were going to be hardball, leaving Lisa in a difficult position without power. The Court believes that it was foreseeable at that time that Lisa would dig in her heels on every issue, as a result of the way that she had been treated at the outset.” (Findings Paragraph 44.b).

28. The Court also awarded attorneys fees and costs to Lisa on its finding that “Michael is much more able than Lisa to pay the attorneys fees”. (Findings Paragraph 44a.) The Court found Mike earns \$4,417 per month and Lisa’s income was imputed for child support purposes to be \$1,243 per month. ( Findings Paragraphs 31 and 32.)

29. Mike’s attorney filed a post-judgment Motion For Reconsideration of Attorney’s Fees. At the hearing held on the Motion To Reconsider, Judge Quinn reduced the amount of attorney’s fees awarded to Lisa on the grounds that a third party had paid most of the attorney’s fees that Lisa had incurred during the divorce action. (Judgment For Attorney’s Fees Paragraph 1).

30. Since the divorce Lisa remarried to Robert Kropf.

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The trial court is granted substantial discretion is awarding custody, visitation rights and attorney fees. However, the appellate court can overturn the rulings of the trial court if the trial court is found to have abused its discretion and the rulings of the trial court are clearly erroneous. In this matter the trial court abused it's discretion in awarding custody, setting visitation rights and in reducing the award of attorney fees to Lisa.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **POINT I**

#### **THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN AWARDING CUSTODY TO MIKE VAN ORDEN**

The trial court is granted broad discretion in awarding custody. Utah Code Annotated § 30-3-10. However, the court's discretion must be within parameters established by the appellate court. *Cummings v. Cummings*, 871 P.2d 472, 474 (Utah App. 1991); *Thorpe v. Jensen*, 817 P. 2d 387, 389 (Utah App. 1991). The appellate court can overturn the rulings of the trial court if the trial court's rulings are "clearly erroneous". *Davis v. Davis*, 749 P.2d 647, 648 (Utah 1988). In awarding custody, the court must consider the best interests of the child. Utah Code Annotated § 30-3-10(1). "The overriding consideration in child custody determinations is the child's best interests." *Cummings v. Cummings*, 821 P. 2d 472, 478 (Utah App. 1991). Lisa appeals from the trial court's award of custody to Mike on the grounds that the trial court did not give adequate weight to the desirability of keeping siblings together, and that the court's initial award to Mike of temporary custody operated as a prejudice against Lisa when the trial court made its award of permanent custody.

The appellate court has repeatedly held that a trial court must consider, among other things, the desirability of keeping siblings or half-siblings together. “The desirability of keeping siblings together is a legitimate factor to consider in deciding custody.” *Merriam v. Merriam*, 799 P.2d 1172, 1178 (Utah App. 1990); *Roberts v. Roberts*, 835 P. 2d 193 (Utah App. 1992). In this matter, Courtney lived with her half sibling brothers from the time she was born. During the years the matter was pending before the trial court, the children were together virtually every day. Courtney had grown up with Brett and Brandon as her brothers. The trial court abused its discretion in not giving adequate weight to the desirability of keeping the siblings together in its award of permanent custody.

The court also abused its discretion in failing to consider that Lisa had been the primary care giver prior to the initiation of the divorce action, and had been virtually the primary care giver during the three years that the divorce action was pending. The fact that Lisa is at home during the days means she provides personal, rather surrogate care for Courtney.

Trial courts operate under a presumption that favors existing custody arrangements. Utah Code of Judicial Administration Rule 4-903(3)(D). *Wright v. Wright*, 941 P.2d (Utah App. 1997). However, the Utah Supreme Court has ruled that “if the primary care giver gained that status wrongfully, the court should be careful not to reward such conduct by giving the wrongdoer a consequential advantage in evaluating a custody question”. *Davis v. Davis*, 749 P.2d 647, 649 (Utah 1988). The Temporary Restraining Order obtained by Mike at the beginning of the divorce matter was, in the trial court’s own words “clearly not justified”. Mike obtained custody under false pretenses and retained custody for the three years that the



divorce matter was pending before the trial court. This operated as a prejudice against Lisa when the trial court considered the award of permanent custody.

Lisa was further prejudiced by the extreme length of time that Dr. McManemin took to complete the custody evaluation. The case hung in limbo for two years while the parties waited for Dr. McManemin to complete the custody evaluation. Therefore Lisa was prejudiced initially by Mike gaining custody under circumstances that were “clearly not justified” and prejudiced again by Mike retaining custody during the three years that the case was pending before the Court.

## **POINT II**

### **THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN RESTRICTING LISA’S VISITATION WITH COURTNEY**

The trial court is empowered to set visitation in accordance with the best interests of the child. Utah Code Annotated § 30-3-33 and § 30-3-34. These sections set forth guidelines that a court should consider in establishing visitation rights. “The visitation schedule should be realistic and reasonable and provide an adequate basis for preserving and fostering the child’s relationship with the non-custodial parent.” *Ebert v. Ebert*, 744 P.2d 1019, 1022 (Utah App. 1987). In this instance, the trial court abused its discretion in restricting Lisa’s visitation with the minor child of the parties when it ruled that Mr. Robert Kropf should not be involved in picking Courtney up for visitation or in dropping Courtney off after visitation, and that Courtney should not be left alone with Mr. Kropf during visitation. These restrictions are not supported by any findings of fact that Mr. Kropf is any threat to Courtney. In addition, Lisa is now married to Mr. Kropf. Therefore, it is inevitable that Mr. Kropf have contact with Courtney, and

should not be restricted from participating in picking her up before, and dropping her off after visitation.

### **POINT III**

#### **THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT MAKE ADEQUATE FINDINGS TO SUPPORT THE ORDER OF CUSTODY AND VISITATION**

A trial court must make detailed findings of fact in order to support an order of custody and visitation. “If our review of custody determinations is to be anything more than a superficial exercise of judicial power, the record on review must contain written findings of fact and conclusions of law by the trial judge which specifically set forth the reasons, based on those numerous factors which must be weighed in determining the “best interests of the child,” and which support the custody decision.” *Ebert v. Ebert*, 744 P.2d 1019, 1021 (Utah App. 1987); *Thorpe v. Jensen*, 817 P.2d 387 (Utah App. 1991); *Roberts v. Roberts*, 835 P. 2d 193 (Utah App. 1992). In this matter, the trial court failed to make detailed findings of fact in order to support its orders regarding custody and visitation. The failure of the trial court to make detailed findings of fact and conclusions of law amounts to an abuse of discretion by the trial court.

### **POINT IV**

#### **THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN REDUCING THE AWARD OF ATTORNEY’S FEES TO LISA VAN ORDEN**

A trial court has broad discretion in granting attorney’s fees in a domestic relations matters. “In any action filed under Title 30, Chapter 3, 4, or 6, and in any action to establish an order of custody, visitation, child support, alimony, or division of property in a domestic case,