1999

Michael L. Van Orden v. Lisa M. Van Orden : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. Lisa failed to marshal the evidence which supported the Court's findings and then demonstrate that such evidence was insufficient to support the findings. If the party challenging the findings fails to marshal the supporting evidence, the trial court's findings will not be disturbed on appeal. Rudman v. Rudman, 812 P.2d 73, 79 (Utah App. 1991). Lisa made no effort to marshal the evidence, and there is no basis to even consider disturbing the trial court's findings.

2. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in awarding Michael sole custody of Cortney, nor did it abuse its discretion in making the visitation orders. The Court made detailed findings, both on the record and in its formal Findings, which support the award of Cortney's custody to Michael. Additionally, Lisa's visitation was not restricted (as she alleges in her Brief, pg. 11) by ruling that Mr. Robert Kropf, a criminal and convicted felon (Tr. pg. 20, 34, 126), should not be involved in picking up or dropping off Cortney, or be left alone with Cortney during Lisa's visitation. There is ample evidence to support these findings. There was no abuse of discretion, and the trial court's decision must be affirmed.

3. The trial court's partial award of attorney's fees was within the Court's discretion. Lisa's has failed to state why this award constitutes an abuse of discretion. Her objection on this point is meritless.

4. Michael should be awarded the attorney's fees he has incurred on appeal. Lisa's appeal is frivolous. Having made no effort to marshal the evidence in support of the findings with which she disagreed, Lisa should not be permitted to cause further expense and inconvenience for Michael. It is reasonable and appropriate that she be ordered to pay the attorney's fees and costs Michael has incurred in this appeal.

ARGUMENT

1. Lisa failed to marshal the evidence which supported the Court's findings and then demonstrate that such evidence was insufficient to support the findings.

In Crouse v. Crouse, 817 P.2d 836 (1991 Utah App.), this Court set forth the standard an appellant must meet in challenging the sufficiency of evidence on appeal:

Appellate review of the sufficiency of the evidence focuses on the trial court's findings of fact. We will not disturb such findings unless they are clearly erroneous. Hagan v. Hagan, 810 P.2d 478, 481 (Utah App. 1991) (citing Jense v. Jense, 784 P.2d 1249, 1251 (Utah App. 1989)); see also Utah R. Civ. P. 52(a). The party seeking to overturn the trial court's findings has the burden of marshalling the evidence in support of the findings and then demonstrating that, despite such evidence, the findings are so lacking in support as to be against the clear weight of the evidence and, therefore, clearly erroneous. If the appellant fails to marshal the evidence, the appellate court assumes that the record supports the findings of the trial court and proceeds to a review of the accuracy of the lower court's conclusions of law and the application of that law in the case. Saunders v. Sharp, 806 P.2d 198, 199 (Utah 1991) (per curiam) (citations omitted). In the case at bar, Mr. Crouse has neither marshalled the evidence in support of the trial court's findings nor demonstrated that such findings are clearly erroneous, citing instead only the evidence that supports the outcome he desires. Thus, we assume the correctness of the trial court's findings and proceed to review its conclusions of law.

Crouse v. Crouse, 817 P.2d 836 (1991 Utah App.).

Lisa's "Statement of Facts" (pg. 3-8 of her Brief of Appellant) are not facts at all, but her version of events, which she argued at trial. She disingenuously and erroneously alleges that in 1996, Commissioner Arnett upheld the *ex parte* Temporary Restraining Order obtained by Michael (pg. 2 of Brief of Appellant). Lisa further states, "Commissioner Arnett ordered that the Temporary Restraining Order be kept in place. . ." (Brief of Appellant, pg. 5). These assertions are clearly misleading and are unquestionably false. Further, Lisa makes no effort to marshal or present the evidence that supported the Court's findings. The marshaling rule was adopted to ensure that the Appellate Court would not be put in the position of retrying the case without seeing or hearing the witnesses. See Nilson v. Nilson, 652 P.2d 1323, 1324 (Utah 1982) ("This court is reluctant to reconsider evidence that a trial court is in an advantaged position to weigh. Our removal from the participants in a trial puts us in the disadvantaged position of reviewing testimony from a cold record.")

Lisa has attempted to retry and re-argue the matter to this court. By arguing the evidence that was not accepted by the trial court, she asks this Court to reject the findings of the trial court without marshaling the evidence which supports those findings. She has failed to properly present her appeal, and this Court should assume that the record supports the findings of the trial court.

2. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in awarding Michael sole custody of Cortney, nor did it abuse its discretion in making the visitation orders.

Even if Lisa had properly marshaled the evidence in support of the findings, which she failed to do, she must show some abuse by the Court in making this determination. The trial court took testimony over three days, and it had the opportunity to weigh the credibility and demeanor of the parties, their witnesses, and the experts. Lisa may

disagree with the decision, but there was nothing about it that would permit the appellate court interpose its own judgment in this matter.

In her Argument (“Point I”), Lisa asserts that the trial court “abused its discretion in not giving adequate weight to the desirability of keeping the siblings together in its award of permanent custody.” (Brief of Appellant, pg. 9). Lisa does not, however, cite to any evidence which supports her challenge. She simply presents her criticism and relies solely on case law which requires that the court consider the issue of keeping siblings together. The fact is that the trial court did indeed consider this factor. There was abundant testimony concerning the issue of keeping siblings together (including Tr. pg. 47, 105), and the trial court gave weight to this issue when making its findings (Finding 10). Still, the Court awarded a schedule of expanded visitation to Lisa specifically for the purpose of allowing additional time for Cortney and her half-siblings to be together (Findings 21 and 23), evidencing the fact that the trial court indeed gave weight to the issue and thoroughly considered the desirability of keeping the siblings together in its award of permanent custody.

The records shows that the findings are rationally based on the evidence presented. All of the criteria of Rule 4-903 of the Utah Code of Judicial Administration were considered by Dr. McManemin. Findings 8 through 30 demonstrate the trial court’s determinations followed the statutory and appellate court directives. Each factor on which evidence was available was examined and an appropriate findings was made (R. 950-967; Tr. 560-576). Some of these findings have been challenged by Lisa, but a review of the evidence and law demonstrates that the trial court acted properly in this case.

The trial court also imposed appropriate limits on Lisa. The Court found (Finding 13; Tr. 563), in part, "that the temporary custody arrangement has been difficult for Lisa to accept. As a result, she has attempted to exclude Michael from medical information, unilaterally enrolled Cortney in kindergarten, and has made custody transitions difficult..."

There were many instances when Lisa either overstepped the boundaries of the non-custodial parent or attempted to exclude Michael from Cortney's activities (R. 779-781) and kept from Michael information concerning Cortney. For example, even after numerous court hearings on the issue of Cortney's school attendance, Lisa unilaterally enrolled Cortney in kindergarten in her area (Tr. 17, 36, 63-64, 184-185; Finding 13), falsely indicating to the school that she was Cortney's custodial parent (Finding 13; Tr. 563). Although Michael has been (and remains) the custodial parent, it is clearly documented that during the pendency of this action, Lisa specifically instructed InstaCare personnel not to release any medical records or information to Michael (Affidavit of Patrick King - Petitioner's Exhibit 33; testimony of Patrick King at 499-503; testimony of Michael at p. 187). Lisa testified that InstaCare "told" her to do so (Tr. 428). Lisa has also harmed her other children during these proceedings, prohibiting contact between her sons (Brett and Brandon Podgorski) and anyone in her family who supported Michael. This includes her brother Tony Lucking (who supports Michael) (see the October 1996 deposition of Lisa; Tr. 33, 108-109, 111, 133-134, 168-170, 268-269, 286-287, 336, 556), and even the boys' own father, Timothy Podgorski (Affidavit of Timothy Podgorski, R. 103-104; Tr. 554).

The Court weighed the evidence and concluded that Michael was the more credible party, and that he was the most competent, caring, and stable parent. That is

precisely what the trial court is to do. Sukin v. Sukin, 842 P.2d 922, 924 (Utah App. 1992), Martinez v. Martinez, 728 P.2d 994 (Utah 1986). No abuse of discretion is demonstrated by the trial court's accepting the evidence which supports its finding, and rejecting the evidence which it does not. Yelderman v. Yelderman, 669 P.2d. 406 (Utah 1983). Lisa does not present any conflicting evidence, but assumes that this Court should infer that the trial court failed to consider the appropriate evidence. Apparently, Lisa believes that anything she said or presented had to be believed, while that offered by Michael had to be rejected if they conflicted. That is not the rule by which either this Court or the trial court functions.

With respect “Point II” of Lisa’s brief, her assertion that the trial court “abused its discretion in restricting Lisa’s visitation with the minor child of the parties when it ruled that Mr. Robert Kropf should not be involved in picking Courtney (sic) up for visitation or in dropping Courtney (sic) off after visitation, and that Courtney (sic) should not be left alone with Mr. Kropf during visitation” (pg. 11-12 of Brief of Appellant) is completely without merit. Mr. Kropf is a criminal and a convicted felon (Tr. pg. 20, 34, 126). It is clear that Mr. Kropf has been the catalyst in promoting or furthering arguments between the parties (Tr. pg. 20, 34, 62, 74, 125, 137, 190-195, 399-400), he threatened to sue (which may be construed as witness-tampering) one of the witnesses in this matter (Linda Madsen, Lisa’s own sister); see the testimony of Linda Madsen at pg. 294. Robert Kropf admitted assaulting Michael (Tr. pg. 20, 34, 125), and for which he was charged with assault (Tr. pg. 34, 193, 356, 401). There is no explanation as to how this finding was an abuse of discretion, nor any explanation by Lisa as to how limiting Cortney’s contact with this felon somehow “restricts” Lisa’s visitation. Again, Lisa protests the trial court’s findings, but fails to marshal any evidence, or cite to any

evidence supporting her criticism, and she offers no evidence as to why this was an abuse of discretion. The Court accepted and incorporated all of the evidence, and apparently found it to be in Cortney's best interest, when ordering that Mr. Kropf was not to participate in the pick up or drop off of visitation, nor was he to be left alone with Cortney.

With respect to "Point III" of Lisa's Brief of Appellant, Lisa argues that, "The trial court did not make adequate findings to support the order of custody and visitation" (pg. 12). Lisa again fails to make any citations to the record to support her assertion. She is again merely trying to reargue her case before this Court. Lisa simply presents her criticism without examining or marshaling any of the evidence presented. Instead, Lisa relies solely on citing to case law which requires that the court consider certain factors in weighing a custody decision.

As with her other challenges, Lisa again protests the findings, but fails to cite to the evidence which supports it and presents only her criticism without first examining any of the evidence presented.

Lisa fails to recognize that simply because she offered evidence which is not accepted, does not mean the trial court has abused its discretion in not accepting or finding credible her evidence as opposed to Michael's evidence. While Lisa implies that the evidence was somehow conflicting with her references to the testimony that she would like this Court to believe, she fails to set forth any basis on which the trial court abused its discretion in choosing to accept the testimony of Michael Van Orden (Tr. 140-251), Tony Lucking (Tr. 256-288), Linda Madsen (Tr. 288-305), Richard Lucking (Tr. 305-310); Noelle Van Orden (Tr. 312-318), Patrick King (Tr. 499-503), and Julie Van Orden (Tr. 504-511) in support of the findings. The Utah Supreme Court has made it

clear that "it is the prerogative of the court to choose which testimony it would believe." Sweeney v. Happy Valley, Inc., 417 P.2d 126, 130 (Utah 1966). Lisa's challenge on appeal ignores the trial court's decision to believe testimony contrary to her position. Abuse of discretion is not demonstrated by believing one witness instead of another.

3. The trial court's partial award of attorney's fees was within the Court's discretion. With respect to Lisa's "Point IV" (Brief of Appellant pg. 12), an award of attorney fees requires consideration of the ability of the requesting party to pay his or her own fees, the ability of the other party to pay, and the reasonableness and necessity of the fees incurred. Rasband v. Rasband, 752 P.2d 1331, 1337 (Utah App. 1988). Alternatively, fees may be awarded to a party who substantially prevails in a matter. This is a discretionary function of the trial court. Crouse v. Crouse, 817 P.2d 836, 839 (Utah App. 1991). There was no testimony, evidence, or proffer from Lisa concerning any financial need or hardship. Indeed, there was testimony that Lisa lived a very comfortable lifestyle. Lisa acknowledged that she did not work, and that she was voluntarily unemployed because her boyfriend (with whom she had been residing) was providing for all her financial needs (Tr. 33-34, 72-73, 189, 272, 396 -397, 415-417).

Michael testified that Lisa had at least three vehicles available to her (an Expedition, a minivan, and a Jaguar), and that she vacationed regularly (Tr. 351, 395, 398, 405). There was no evidence that Lisa was suffering financially in any way, or that she lacked the resources to pay her own fees.

While Michael feels that the trial Court's order that he pay any part of Lisa's fees was not supported by the evidence, Lisa's claim that the award was insufficient is without merit.

Lisa claims that the trial court abused its discretion in reducing the open-ended award of attorney's fees awarded at trial (Brief of Appellant, pg. 12-14), again without marshaling the evidence. Lisa (again) merely re-argues the same issues presented to Judge Quinn at the post-trial hearing on June 11, 1999. The trial court, however, is clearly allowed to reduce the amount asserted by one party in determining a reasonable fee:

Part of the trial court's discretion involves evaluation of the evidence presented. In Beckstrom v. Beckstrom, 578 P.2d 520 (Utah 1978), the attorney testified that the fees were appropriately \$ 800, but the trial court awarded only \$ 500. On appeal, we upheld the award and explained: "Even though that evidence is undisputed, the trial judge was not necessarily compelled to accept such self-interested testimony whole cloth and make such an award; and in the absence of patent error or clear abuse of discretion, this court will not disturb his findings and judgment." *Id.* at 523-24. In addition, the trial court is allowed to reduce the amount asserted by one party in determining a reasonable fee. See, e.g., Appliance & Heating Supply, Inc. v. Telaroli, 682 P.2d 867, 868 (Utah 1984); Sears v. Riemersma, 655 P.2d 1105, 1110 (Utah 1982).

Dixie State Bank v. Bracken, 764 P.2d 985 (Utah 1988).

There has been no abuse of discretion in reducing the open-ended attorney fee award.

4. Michael should be awarded the attorney's fees he has incurred on appeal. Lisa's appeal is frivolous. She made no effort to marshal the evidence. The fact that she appealed this matter forced Michael to incur significant attorneys fees responding. Rule 33(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure provides that "if the court determines that a motion made or appeal taken under these rules is either frivolous or for delay, it shall award just damages, which may include single or double costs, as defined in Rule 34, and/or reasonable attorney fees, to the prevailing party."

Lisa's objections to the trial court's findings are completely unsupported by the evidence, and are wholly without merit. Given the lack of evidence marshaled in support of the claims made by the Appellant in this matter, it is not conceivable that Lisa would have any reasonable likelihood of prevailing. Michael respectfully moves this Court for an award of attorney fees and costs incurred in this appeal, either under Rule 33(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, or as the prevailing party on appeal, pursuant to Bolliger v. Bolliger, 2000 Utah Ct. App 47, ¶¶ 26-28, 389 Utah Adv. Rep. 11.

CONCLUSION